STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Greenville County
Honorable Robin B. Stillwell, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

May 01 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

Petitioner,

vs.

ONTARIO STEFON PATRICK MAKINS,

Respondent.

Appellate Case No. 2020-000024

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent Makins was indicted for criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree, criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the third degree, and lewd act on a minor. Following trial on December 5-8, 2016, a jury found Makins guilty of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the third degree, and acquitted Makins of the other two charges including criminal sexual conduct in the first degree. The Honorable Robin B. Stilwell sentenced Makins to ten years imprisonment. During sentencing, Makins apologized to Victim's mother. R. p. 369.

Makins appealed, and following briefing and oral argument, the Court of Appeals reversed the conviction in a published opinion. State v. Makins, 428 S.C. 440, 835 S.E.2d 532 (Ct. App. 2019). The State filed a petition for rehearing and requested the hearing be heard en banc. The Court of Appeals denied the petition for rehearing on December 16, 2019.

The State filed a petition for writ of certiorari to this Court on January 7, 2020, Makins filed his return on February 18, 2020, and the State made its reply to the return on February 26, 2020. This Court granted the State's petition for writ of certiorari on April 24, 2020. This Brief of Petitioner follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent Makins molested his girlfriend's younger sister from the time she was five to eight years old. Victim disclosed the abuse to her second grade teacher, Mary Jill Kroske, roughly a week after a representative from the Julie Valentine Center spoke with the class about inappropriate touching. R. p. 108. On March 20, 2015, Victim lagged behind as the class left for recess and said, "Ms. Kroske, do you remember those ladies that came to us?" and Kroske answered, "yes." Victim replied, "Well that happened to me." R. p. 109, lines 4-11. Victim disclosed she was sexually abused to Kroske, who in turn reported the disclosure to the guidance counselor. R. pp. 109-10.

Victim's Mother testified Victim was ten years old at the time of trial. Mother has four daughters aged ten to twenty-nine years old. According to the transcript, at the time of trial, her daughter Toi was nearly twenty years old. Makins is Toi's boyfriend, and they have two children together – M.M. (age 9) and C.M. (age 6). R. pp. 143-45; p. 147. Mother testified Toi and Makins were together since they were in middle school, and Mother had considered Makins a son. Makins spent a lot of time with the family and babysat Victim. R. p. 147; p. 150.

The school called Mother and advised her Victim told her teacher her "brother" sexually abused her. Mother did not believe it at first, because "brother" is how Victim referred to Makins and she did not believe Makins would do that. However, when she went to school and spoke to Victim, she implored Victim, "Tell the truth," and Victim replied "I am." R. p. 153.

Mother testified at the time Victim acted out a lot. Mother would check on Victim in her room at night and see Victim with her hands in her panties. Victim wet the bed a lot. She became adamant at times about not wanting to go to Toi's apartment. R. pp. 153-54. After the disclosure, Mother took Victim to the Julie Valentine Center for a forensic interview and took her to counseling.

She testified Victim had trouble focusing, behaving in school, and sleeping at night. R. pp. 154-55. Since Victim reported the abuse, Mother and Victim no longer interacted with Makins and did not have regular contact with Toi or Toi's cousins. R. pp. 156-58.

Victim testified she often went to Toi's house. Sometimes Makins watched Victim while Toi was at work. R. pp. 172-73. Victim testified one time, she was playing with her nephews and they threw cups of water at each other in the bathroom. Makins called them into the living room, one at a time, to punish them. He called Victim and told her to suck his penis. R. p. 175. She testified she was made to perform oral sex on other occasions, more times than she could remember. R. pp. 175-76. Makins also touched her "butt" and made Victim touch his penis. R. pp. 177-79. This sometimes happened while the nephews were outside but also happened when the nephews were playing video games. Sometimes the nephews were in the same room. R. pp. 181-82. Victim found she wanted to leave Toi's as soon as she arrived and would call her mother to go home. R. p. 183.

Victim told her teacher, Ms. Kroske, about the abuse. R. p. 184. Victim admitted she previously lied when she said Makins threatened not to tell, but explained she lied because she was previously scared to tell about the abuse. R. pp. 192-93; pp. 195-96. She testified she misses Toi and her nephews, but she told because "[Makins] is a child molester." R. pp. 184-85. She explained a child molester is a person who touches children on their private parts. R. p. 187. She testified she drew a picture of herself and Makins during therapy. R. p. 186.

Investigator David Piccone interviewed Victim and referred her to the Julie Valentine Center. He also interviewed Makins, who denied committing any sexual abuse, but admitted he sometimes was alone with Victim when he babysat her. R. pp. 203-04; pp. 209-10.

Christine Carlberg from the Julie Valentine Center conducted a forensic interview during

which Victim described being sexually abused by Makins. The video recording of the interview was admitted as State's Exhibit 2. R. pp. 228-32. During the interview, the Victim was clearly reluctant to talk about the abuse. She was visibly angry and sometimes grunted responses to the interviewer's questions. When asked a general question if anything happened, she replied "no" and later said she did not want to talk about it. State's Exhibit 2 (8:30-9:30). Victim complained she wanted to go home. She slumped over on her chair – her body language would continue to be telling throughout the interview. Victim told the interviewer she told her mother and teacher, but she did not want to tell the interviewer what she told them. (9:30-10:30). Victim said she was worried about Makins and was scared to tell. (11:00-11:30).

She then indicated by nodding her head in agreement that she was abused, and she told the interviewer it occurred more than one time. (12:00-13:00). She held up five fingers to answer the question of what age the abuse began and indicated by showing eight fingers that the abuse lasted until she was eight years old. (circa 13:00). The abuse occurred at Toi's house. Victim asked the interviewer if Makins was arrested. She angrily exclaimed, "You already know, don't you" as an answer to either her question or the interviewer's question about what happened. Victim pushed her chair to the edge of the room as the interviewer continued the inquiry on the difficult topic. (13:00-14:30). She slumped out of the chair onto the floor as she faced more questions. (16:00). She told the interviewer Makins is mean, Makins is scary, and he is a child molester. (17:00-17:15). She described a child molester as someone who touches a child in the private parts of their body. (17:30-17:45). Victim indicated, by pointing, that Makins did that to her. She said it occurred more than one time. (circa 18:00). Victim angrily said it felt scary. (18:45-19:00). Makins told her not to tell anyone. (21:00). She told the interviewer he also made her touch his rear. (25:00-25:30). Victim

told the interviewer the abuse occurred every time she was at Toi's house. She told the interviewer he made her touch him with his pants pulled down, and threatened to kill her or her family if she told. (30:00-31:30). The interviewer suggested she draw while the interviewer briefly left the room. While the interviewer was away, Victim drew a picture and said "Devil." (34:00-36:00). She later identified the person she drew as Makins. (39:00-39:15). At the end of the interview, Victim appears relieved and unburdened.

Kristen Rich, a licensed counselor, provided Victim with therapy. R. p. 245. She is certified in trauma focused cognitive behavioral therapy. She defined trauma as an event of a shocking nature that "tragically shifts your life." R. p. 243, lines 11-20. Rich testified she has treated about 500 children, of which about 125 to 150 suffered trauma from sexual abuse. R. pp. 248-49.

She explained the purpose and process of therapy: she evaluates the patient, assessing the difficulties the patient has and any symptomology the patient is experiencing, and "then [does] an assessment, a diagnosis, and then provide[s] a treatment plan to help them feel better and do better." R. p. 242, lines 12-20. Rich testified some of the symptoms a child might exhibit after suffering trauma are avoidance, hypervigilance, sleep problems, and somatic symptoms. R. pp. 251-52. They may suffer from intrusive thoughts or feel shame. Symptoms often overlap. R. pp. 252-53. Rich also testified about delayed and piecemeal disclosure. R. pp. 251-55. Rich never testified Victim suffered trauma and never testified Victim suffered any symptoms of trauma.

Rich testified she treated Victim, and Victim disclosed she was abused during a therapy session. R. p. 275. Victim drew a picture in therapy which was admitted **without objection** as State's Exhibit 4. R. P. 372. It depicts Makins forcing Victim to perform oral sex. It is important to note that Makins was acquitted of the conduct in the picture, which was the factual basis for the

charge of criminal sexual conduct in the first degree.

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals erred by finding the therapist indirectly bolstered Victim's testimony by stating she treated Victim. The therapist was allowed to testify to the circumstances of treatment and also provide expert testimony on trauma resulting from sexual abuse pursuant to Schumpert; and the therapist never indicated directly or indirectly that she believed Victim.

The Court of Appeals found the trial court erred by allowing Rich to provide both expert testimony on trauma and testimony that she treated Victim. Note Rich never testified why she was treating Victim. The Court of Appeals found the testimony was bolstering because "Rich's testimony implied she was treating Victim for sexual trauma because Victim had suffered such trauma." State v. Makins, 428 S.C. 440, 835 S.E.2d 532, 537 (Ct. App. 2019). The opinion ignores that expert and factual testimony on rape trauma is admissible to prove a sexual assault occurred. State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 506, 435 S.E.2d 859, 862 (1993) ("[B]oth expert testimony and behavioral evidence are admissible as rape trauma evidence to prove a sexual offense occurred where the probative value of such evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect.") *overruled on other grounds* by State v. Stukes, 416 S.C. 493, 787 S.E.2d 480 (2016). In other words, the Court of Appeals found the trial court erred because Rich's testimony "implied" what she could have expressly testified to, that Victim suffered from post-traumatic syndrome (PTSD).

In Makins' return to the State's petition for writ of certiorari, Makins attempted to defend the Court of Appeals' opinion by claiming Schumpert was somehow overruled, despite this Court affirming Schumpert's continuing validity in State v. Anderson, 413 S.C. 212, 776 S.E.2d 76 (2015). Makins' analysis depends on improperly conflating the legitimate probative value of Rich's expert

testimony, as clearly permitted by Schumpert, with a claim of unfair prejudice. However, Rich provided the jury permissible expert testimony in the form of general background information on trauma and the behaviors of sexually abused children. Additionally, Rich testified she treated Victim and Victim disclosed sexual abuse. Rich did not testify about any symptoms of trauma Victim might have suffered, although this would be permissible under Schumpert. Rich did not provide an opinion, provide a conclusion, or make any findings. She certainly did not comment on Victim's credibility – directly or indirectly. No bolstering occurred. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals erred in reversing the conviction and sentence.

Rich's testimony/how the issue arose at trial

Rich explained the term trauma to the jury as follows:

[T]rauma is a very bad event where somebody feels like they might be hurt or killed or something very bad might happen to them. And generally, it's shocking in nature where somebody feels helpless or terrorized or horrified, and if that occurs to them. So something out of the ordinary that's bad. It's worse than falling down and skinning your knee. It's something that tragically shifts your life.

R. p. 243, lines 11-20. Rich gave the following examples of events which could result in trauma: car accidents, witnessing domestic violence, physical abuse, sexual abuse, witnessing the death of a loved one that's traumatic or violent, robberies, kidnappings, or house fires. R. p. 243, line 23 – p. 244, line 5. Rich noted it was important during therapy for the patient to talk about the traumatic events the patient experienced. R. p. 244.

Rich was then qualified as an expert in treatment of child trauma and child abuse dynamics. R. pp. 249-50. Rich further explained a child experiencing trauma often will show some avoidance by not wanting to be around the setting of the trauma or “a person that reminds them of the trauma.”

R. p. 251, lines 6-11. Traumatized children may also become hypervigilant out of fear the traumatic event will happen again. R. p. 251, lines 12-15. They may have difficulty sleeping and suffer nightmares. R. p. 251, lines 16-20. The children may act out at school or home, and suffer emotional difficulties. R. p. 251, lines 21-25. The trauma may manifest itself in somatic symptoms, intrusive thoughts, or mood disturbances. R. p. 252, lines 1-13.

The prosecutor asked Rich about whether any symptoms the child may experience are particular to sexual abuse trauma. Rich explained:

So sexual abuse trauma is strongly correlated with that. It's sometimes, you know, bedwetting, pulling out hair, wanting to avoid particular situations, being frightened or being in certain situations.

Sometimes children who have been abused by a particular type of perpetrator, they want to avoid that. So avoid – some children want to avoid men. Some children want to avoid certain situations.

R. p. 252, line 17 – p. 253, line 1. Note in the instant case, no testimony was elicited that Victim pulled her hair out, suffered nightmares, suffered intrusive thoughts, was frightened, or sought to avoid men.

Rich explained trauma associated with sexual abuse tends to be more situational. The secretive and seductive nature of child sexual abuse creates a traumatic situation different than, for example, a car accident. Because the abuse occurring in the context of a personal relationship will violate that relationship, the child will often feel shame, fear, insecurity, or guilt, and display these feelings as symptoms of the trauma resulting from the abuse. R. p. 253, lines 5-20.

Rich explained disclosure is often delayed because the abuser threatens the child or the child's family. The child may also fear the child will be in trouble if the child discloses the abuse or may fear the abuser will be in trouble. R. p. 254. Rich explained disclosure tends to be piecemeal:

the child may disclose a fraction of the abuse to test the non-offending parent or may disclose only what is bothering them the most at that moment then perhaps disclose more as they become more comfortable or feel safer. R. p. 255. The child may want to push aside recollections of the abuse or may “close up because they don’t want to hurt the adults in their life.” R. p. 256, lines 8-17. Rich explained sometimes children experience difficulty discussing the abuse they experienced, so counselors may let the child draw what happened to them. R. p. 256, line 21 – p. 257, line 6.

When the prosecution began to ask about the therapy Rich provided to Victim, defense counsel interposed the first objection to the testimony, pretrial or before the jury. Once the jury was out, defense counsel moved for a mistrial. R. pp. 257-59. Strangely, defense counsel claimed the reason he waited to interpose the objection was because he wanted to be sure the witness treated the child. R. p. 259, lines 5-11. In fact, during the earlier in limine motion, the prosecutor informed counsel and the trial court that Rich would testify about “some details of her treatment of this victim.” R. p. 46, lines 15-22.

Defense counsel’s objection was not timely: defense counsel belatedly complained that Rich testified of the five hundred patients she treated, about 120 to 150 were treated for trauma related to sexual abuse. R. p. 259, lines 18-23. Defense counsel claimed Rich’s testimony conveyed she believes the child because she is saying to the jury she would not have treated the child if the child was not suffering trauma. R. pp. 260-61. The prosecution noted at that point in Rich’s testimony, the testimony was the equivalent of “blind expert” testimony and Rich did not testify she believed the victim. The prosecutor indicated she would not elicit testimony from Rich as to what symptoms Victim suffered. R. p. 261. Defense counsel’s reply was to complain that Rich’s expert testimony was supported by fact witness testimony from other witnesses like Victim’s mother, who would

testify to Victim's demeanor and symptoms. R. pp. 262-63. However, defense counsel did not explain how that is different from cases where a blind expert testifies generally about symptoms of child abuse that corroborates another witness's fact testimony.

The trial court denied the mistrial motion. R. p. 270. The trial court then returned from a brief recess and announced it would limit the State's inquiry into Rich's specific treatment and diagnosis. R. pp. 271-72. Defense counsel made no objection at that time to the trial court's ruling or the sufficiency of its limitation on Rich's testimony. R. p. 273-74. See State v Beckham, 334 S.C. 302, 513 S.E.2d 606 (1999) (where appellant objects, but fails to request further relief or object to the court's failure to give a curative instruction, no issue is preserved for review).

After the jury returned to the courtroom, Rich testified she provided treatment to Victim, and Victim disclosed sexual abuse during a therapy session. R. p. 275. Victim also drew a picture, admitted as State's Exhibit 4. Rich laid foundation for the exhibit and testified to Victim's explanation of the drawing. **Defense counsel did not object to the exhibit or any of the testimony surrounding it.** R. pp. 275-79; p. 372 (Exhibit 4). Rich testified Victim disclosed the abuse occurred between the time Victim was five years old and seven or eight years old, and the abuse always occurred at Toi's house. R. p. 280. At no point did Rich testify she diagnosed Victim with PTSD or that Victim suffered any symptoms of trauma, and Rich did not provide any testimony implying she believed Victim's disclosures.

The Standard of Review is whether the trial court abused its discretion; the trial court did not commit an error of law.

In South Carolina, "[t]he admission or exclusion of expert testimony is a matter within the sound discretion of the trial court." Burroughs v. Worsham, 352 S.C. 382, 390, 574 S.E.2d 215, 219

(Ct. App. 2002). “A trial court’s decision to admit or exclude expert testimony will not be reversed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion.” State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 269, 676 S.E.2d 684, 686 (2009). A trial court abuses its power of discretion when it commits an error of law or when there has been a factual conclusion without any evidentiary support. State v. Price, 368 S.C. 494, 498, 629 S.E.2d 363, 365 (2006).

In the instant case, the Court of Appeals’ opinion is unclear as to what error of law, if any, the trial court committed. Indeed, the logic of the Court of Appeals’ decision to reverse Makins’ conviction is difficult to ascertain from its opinion even as it explains the rules established by this Court in State v. Anderson, 413 S.C. 212, 218 776 S.E.2d 76, 79 (2015) and State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013). The Court of Appeals never explains how Rich’s testimony in the present case violated the rules set by this Court in Anderson or Kromah.

Expert and factual testimony on trauma resulting from sexual abuse is admissible to prove the abuse occurred.

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