STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Greenville County

Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

PETITIONER,

V.

ONTARIO STEFON PATRICK MAKINS,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2020-000024

---

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

TAYLOR D. GILLIAM  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**RECEIVED**

**Jul 02 2020**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

**

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

For example, Rich testified that the vast majority are children are delayed in disclosing abuse just like Minor in this case. Her testimony strongly implied that because she witnessed Minor act in the same manner as other victims of sexual abuse Minor must be telling the truth.

Not only was Rich's testimony used to bolster Minor's testimony, it was also highly prejudicial to Appellant and cumulative. Under Rule 403, SCRE, relevant evidence "may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice ... or needless presentation of cumulative evidence."

Why Minor delayed disclosing was an issue of dispute. Initially, Minor claimed Appellant threatened her life and her family. Minor later admitted that this was a lie and that she did not disclose earlier because she did not realize Appellant was a child molester. Rich testified that either reason was consistent with the actions of a child who was traumatized by sexual abuse. App. 251 l. 6 – App. 257 l. 8. Rich's testimony regarding both the typical process of delayed disclosure and her firsthand observations of Minor's disclosure process was used solely by the State to reinforce and reiterate the reasoning for Minor's actions and behavior. See Jolly v. State, 314 S.C. 17, 21, 443 S.E.2d 566, 569 (1994) ("*Improper corroboration testimony that is merely cumulative to the victim's testimony, however, cannot be harmless, because it is precisely this cumulative effect which enhances the devastating impact of improper corroboration.*") (emphasis in original).

Respondent contends that this Court's erred because the state should be allowed to present evidence of trauma under State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993) overruled by State v. Stukes, 416 S.C. 493, 787 S.E.2d 480 (2016). Reliance on Schumpert, is disingenuous following the South Carolina Supreme Court's opinion almost twenty years later in State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013) as well as other recent opinions. Such an assertion belies the point of Kromah and its progeny: to prevent witnesses from bolstering the credibility of a another witness. As the Court of Appeals correctly noted, Rich's testimony improperly indicated to the jury that the she believed Minor's allegations in the current matter.

Violating the holdings of many recent opinions, including Kromah, Rich’s testimony indicated she was providing therapy to Minor and thereby directly implied Minor had suffered trauma. The two focal points of Rich’s testimony—trauma and therapy—were inextricably intertwined. Without the former, the latter was unnecessary. Rich’s testimony implied she was providing therapy to Minor because she believed Minor had suffered trauma. Rich’s remarks were correctly held to be improper by the Court of Appeals.

Further, Schumpert predated the South Carolina Rules of Evidence, which became effective on September 3, 1995. Rule 1103(b), SCRE. Petitioner suggests that this Court “affirm[ed] Schumpert’s continuing validity in State v. Anderson,” even though Anderson predated Stukes which overruled Schumpert on other grounds. Brief of Petitioner 6. Schumpert has only been cited once in a published opinion since Stukes. In State v. Jones, the Court of Appeals referred to State v. Weaverling, 337 S.C. 460, 523 S.E.2d 787 (Ct. App. 1999) which quoted Schumpert. 417 S.C. 319, 790 S.E.2d 17 (Ct. App. 2016), aff’d as modified, 423 S.C. 631, 817 S.E.2d 268 (2018). Schumpert and Weaverling are cases from a different era which have outlived their usefulness. The landscape in this area of the law has shifted in recent years, and the viability of those two cases is questionable. Unwavering dependence on Schumpert, coupled with a disregard of the numerous recent opinions, fails to recognize the restrictions that have been judicially created in the last three decades; a plain Schumpert application would seem to suggest that this Court is only required to conduct a balancing test under Rule 403, SCRE, when additional limitations have been put in place to prevent improper testimony such as Rich’s.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that “Rich’s opinion testimony addressing the various manifestations of child sexual abuse, followed immediately by her affirmative response that she treated Victim, implied she believed Victim was telling the truth with respect to her

allegations of sexual abuse.” Rich’s testimony perfectly aligned with prior testimony regarding symptoms of sexual abuse trauma such that the jury was led to the intended conclusion that Rich was only treating Minor because she had suffered abuse. The jury very likely interpreted Rich’s testimony as an overt indication that Minor’s behavior was typical, her delayed disclosure acceptable, and her testimony believable.

Recent opinions at both appellate courts reflect a trend of disallowing testimony similar to Rich’s. In Chappell v. State, the Court of Appeals held that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object when the state’s expert witness gave improper bolstering testimony. 429 S.C. 68, 837 S.E.2d 496 (Ct. App. 2019) (rehearing denied) (petition for certiorari pending). Although the expert forensic interviewer in that case neither treated the minor nor saw the video of the interview, she testified “Children don’t often lie about sexual abuse incidents.” Id. at 73-4, 837 S.E.2d at 499. Chappell cited numerous cases, many of which have been discussed above, all revolving around improper bolstering by a witness who interviewed or treated the complaining witness. Id. at 75-6, 837 S.E.2d at 500. Chappell also referred to State v. Cartwright for the notion that an independent’s expert testimony was not improper bolstering because she testified in general terms and “never interviewed the victims and never stated she believed the victims were telling the truth.” Id. at 77, 837 S.E.2d at 501 (citing Cartwright, 425 S.C. 81, 819 S.E.2d 756 (2018)). The Court of Appeals noted that the expert’s statement “not only had the effect of improper bolstering the victim’s credibility; it also improperly invaded the province of the jury to determine the only issue in this case: whether Chappell sexually abused the victim.” Id. at 78, 837 S.E.2d at 501.

In Cartwright, the defendant was charged with multiple counts of criminal sexual conduct. 425 S.C. 85, 819 S.E.2d at 748. At trial, the state relied on the testimony of Dr. Alicia

Benedetto, a clinical psychologist and an expert in “child sexual abuse dynamics.” Id. at 88, 819 S.E.2d at 759. Having not spoken to any witnesses or victims in the case, she served as a “blind expert.” Id. Much like Rich, Dr. Benedetto testified that “children routinely delay reporting.” Id.; App. 253 l. 24 – App. 256 l. 17. Regarding expertise and bolstering, this Court held that her testimony did not improperly bolster the victim’s credibility:

Rather, her testimony served the purpose of explaining the behaviors common to sexually abused children. Here, **she never interviewed the victims** and never stated she believed the victims were telling the truth. Dr. Benedetto simply described, in general terms, the reasons why children recant. ... Thus, although Dr. Benedetto’s testimony corroborated some of the minor victim’s general behavior, she properly testified in broad terms based on her expert qualifications.

Id. at 96, 819 S.E.2d 764. (emphasis added). Unlike Dr. Benedetto, Rich interviewed Minor and provided therapy. App. 275 ll. 8 – 16. Thus, the authorization upon which Petitioner seeks to rely is inapplicable.

Briggs v. State is another example of a PCR case wherein trial counsel failed to object to improper bolstering. 421 S.C. 316, 806 S.E.2d 713 (2017). This Court in Briggs remarked upon the numerous recent cases discussing “the permissible limits of a forensic interviewer’s testimony in the context of the prohibition against improper bolstering.” Id. at 322, 806 S.E.2d at 716. In particular, this Court relied on State v. Smith for “the central point of the prohibition against improper bolstering: a witness may not give an opinion for the purpose of conveying to the jury—directly or indirectly—that she believes the victim.” Id. at 323, 806 S.E.2d at 717 (citing Smith v. State, 386 S.C. 562, 689 S.E.2d 629 (2010)). Based upon Kromah and Anderson, supra, the expert’s testimony in Briggs, at least in part, “clearly conveyed to the jury that she believed the victim.” Id. at 327, 806 S.E.2d at 719. Much like Rich, the expert in Briggs “invaded the province of the jury and testified she had already made [the] determination” that Minor was telling the truth. Id. at 328, 806 S.E.2d at 720.

Much like Cartwright in that it dealt with a blind expert, the Court of Appeals held in State v. Brown that an expert who did not interview the minor was allowed to testify in broad terms as long as there was no vouching or bolstering. 411 S.C. 332, 768 S.E.2d 246 (Ct. App. 2015) abrogated by State v. Jones, 423 S.C. 631, 817 S.E.2d 268 (2018). Unlike the experts in Cartwright and Brown, Rich testified that she treated Minor and crossed the line into vouching. A suggestion that Rich testified only in broad terms, when she advised the jury that she treated Minor, is indefensible. As the Court of Appeals correctly concluded, this testimony was violative of the standards set forth in State v. White, 361 S.C. 407, 605 S.E.2d 540 (2004) and State v. Anderson, 413 S.C. 212, 776 S.E.2d 76 (2015), among others. Rich's testimony invaded the province of the jury and suggested that she would not have been treating Minor had she not believed her.

The trial judge in Mr. Makins' case was apprehensive of this result. On numerous occasions, the trial judge expressed doubt as to the methods the state sought to use:

This is my concern about this witness and why I'm somewhat circumspect. We have a long line of cases which discuss expert witnesses buttressing the credibility of minor witnesses. And although I think that most of what she talked about in a vacuum is okay, my concern is that she begins to talk about the specific treatment and discussions with this child and without saying 'that makes her believable', she is suggesting that that makes her believable.

And I want to make sure that what we're not doing is an end run around forensic interviewers being qualified as expert witnesses and thereby buttressing the credibility of witnesses.

So I don't have an issue with the qualification. I think the qualification is fairly airtight. It's - - the question is, what opinion will be offered and how close are we going to get to her saying, 'I talked to her. I diagnosed her as being a victim of childhood sexual trauma and all of her answers were consistent with my diagnosis for childhood sexual trauma.

App. 48 ll. 8 – App. 49 l. 7. Soon thereafter, the trial judge cut to the heart of the issue and pointedly remarked: “The distinction here is that she is actually an attending expert. That’s the one distinction that I’ve drawn.” App. 50, ll. 4 – 11.

The trial judge’s concern persisted throughout trial, even going as far as to suggest that the state prepare testimony of a blind expert instead of an expert witness who attended to the child. App. 55, ll. 13 – 17. Quite presciently, the trial judge remarked to the solicitor: “Again, if you get a conviction in this case, this is where you’re going to lose it on appeal, okay?” App. 56, ll. 5 – 7. The trial judge repeatedly continued to warn the state:

So I still have the same concern about the expert witness vouching for the testimony of the minor victim.

I don’t know what this expert witness is going to say. I don’t have an issue with her qualification as an expert witness. I don’t think - - and I haven’t heard the testimony yet - - I don’t think I have any issue with her saying that she talked to her, and that she exhibits symptoms of post-traumatic stress disorder.

Beyond that, **I’m concerned that if she starts matching up her testimony with her symptoms, we are essentially establishing a circumstance where she is vouching for the credibility of the witness.** If that happens, I don’t think I have any choice but to declare a mistrial and I don’t want to get there.

You can put her ... on the stand to testify as a fact witness without any vouching for the credibility. And then use a blind witness if you want to. Or you can use a blind witness. But don’t get to the point where she’s vouching for the credibility, okay?

...

Because I think **when you start talking about symptoms, that is [when] you’re matching the expert opinion to her specific testimony, to her disclosures. I think that’s where you start getting into the vouching part.**

App. 90 l. 1 – App. 91 l. 23. (emphasis added). The state failed to “walk that tight rope” envisioned by the trial judge. App. 53 ll. 2 – 3. As a result, the Court of Appeals correctly reversed Makins’ conviction by relying on the unambiguous law set forth by this Court.

The error committed by the trial court was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. In State v. Jennings, this Court held that improper vouching was not harmless in a case with no physical evidence. 394 S.C. 473, 480, 716 S.E.2d 91, 94-95 (2011). In Jennings, “[t]he only evidence presented by the State was the children’s accounts of what occurred and other hearsay evidence of the children’s accounts.” Id. “Because the children’s credibility was the most critical determination” in that case, the admission of written reports was not harmless. Id. Similarly, State v. Stukes, a case that “hinged on credibility,” was not “amenable to a harmless error analysis.” 416 S.C. 493, 500, 787 S.E.2d 480, 483 (2016).

This Court also recently held that failure to give a requested charge in an “almost exclusively circumstantial” case was not harmless error. See State v. Herndon, Op. No. 27986 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed July 1, 2020) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 26 at 11) n. 6 (“Fundamental to a jury’s role as fact-finder is making credibility determinations, which lie in the sole province of the jury.”).

The Court of Appeals correctly held that the error in this case was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Makins, 428 S.C. 440, 449-50, 835 S.E.2d at 537. The Court of Appeals issued an opinion which accurately and thoroughly discussed the applicable case law. Counsel for Mr. Makins timely moved for a mistrial and renewed his motion when the time came. He noted his dissatisfaction with the jury instruction. This matter was preserved and correctly decided by the Court of Appeals.

Rich’s role as a therapist made it more likely that the jury believed Minor’s allegations. Various types of therapists in South Carolina are statutorily regulated. The “practice of physical therapy” is defined as:

[T]he evaluation and treatment of human beings to detect, assess, prevent, correct, alleviate, and limit physical disability, bodily malfunction, and pain from injury,

disease, and any other bodily or mental condition and includes the administration, interpretation, documentation, and evaluation of physical therapy tests and measurements of bodily functions and structures; the establishment, administration, evaluation, and modification of a physical therapy treatment plan which includes the use of physical, chemical, or mechanical agents, activities, instruction, and devices for prevention and therapeutic purposes; and the provision of consultation and educational and other advisory services for the purpose of preventing or reducing the incidence and severity of physical disability, bodily malfunction, and pain.

S.C. Code Ann. § 40-45-20. The practice of speech-language pathology means “the rendering of or the offering to render any speech-language pathology services to an individual, group, organization, or the public.” S.C. Code Ann. § 40-67-20.

The jury was probably familiar with the likes of speech therapists, physical therapists, and occupational therapists. Those professionals are tasked with treating individuals who require assistance. Therefore, the jury likely believed therapists like Rich only treat individuals who appear to need it. As correctly deduced by the Court of Appeals, Rich’s testimony implied she believed Minor was telling the truth with respect to her allegations of sexual abuse. Further, the solicitor leveraged the overlap during closing argument, increasing the prejudice to Makins. The trial judge’s jury instruction, buried within the court’s charge following closing arguments was insufficient to cure the error. The Court of Appeals, finding the error preserved, correctly held that the admission of Rich’s testimony was error, and that error was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

**CONCLUSION**

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